IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE
OF CALIFORNIA
Plaintiff and Respondent,

v.

JEREMIAH IRA WILLIAMS,
Defendant and Appellant.

No. S262229

Court of Appeal
No. D074098

Fourth Appellate District, Division One
San Diego County Case No. SCD268493
The Honorable Kenneth So, Judge

APPELLANT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

NANCY J. KING
California State Bar No. 163477
1901 First Avenue, Fl. 1
San Diego, CA 92101
(858) 755-5258
njking51@gmail.com
Attorney for appellant WILLIAMS
By Appointment of the Supreme
Court of the State of California

ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Does Penal Code section 3051, subdivision (h), violate the equal protection clause of the Fourteenth Amendment by excluding young adults convicted and sentenced for serious sex crimes under the One Strike law (Pen. Code, § 667.61) from youth offender parole consideration, while young adults convicted of first degree murder are entitled to such consideration?

INTRODUCTION

Appellant Jeremiah Williams was 24 years old when he was arrested for sexual assaults on two women, committed one day apart, in the summer of 2016. He was convicted following a jury trial and sentenced pursuant to Penal Code section 667.61¹ to a term of 100 years to life, plus 86 years. Because of his age at the time of the offense, Mr. Williams should be eligible for youth offender parole after serving 25 years (§ 3051, subd. (b)(3)), but for subdivision (h) of section 3051, which excludes youthful offenders sentenced according to section 667.61.

The Court of Appeal rejected Mr. Williams’s contention that excluding him from consideration for early parole violates his right to equal protection under the Fourteenth Amendment and article I, section 7 of the California Constitution. Instead, the court held the Legislature had a rational basis for excluding One Strike Offenders from youth parole consideration. (*People v. Williams* (2020) 47 Cal.App.5th 475, 489-493.)

The lower court’s opinion disagreed with *People v. Edwards* (2019) 34 Cal.App.5th 183, in which the First District, Division Four, determined that the exclusion of youthful “One Strike” offenders did indeed violate principles of equal protection, even if allowable under the Eighth Amendment because the defendants were not juveniles at the time of the offense. Since this court granted review, at least one other Court of Appeal has weighed in

¹ Subsequent statutory citations will be to the California Penal Code unless otherwise noted.

with a published decision that agreed with the reasoning in this case. (See, *People v. Moseley* (Jan. 20, 2021, B303321) ___ Cal.App.5th ___ [2021 Cal. App. LEXIS 51.] This court granted review to settle the dispute.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On April 17, 2018, appellant Jeremiah Williams was charged by amended information in case number SCD268493 with the following felony offenses:

Count 1– Robbery, in violation of section 211;

Counts 2, 8, 9, and 11 – Making criminal threats, in violation of section 422;

Counts 3 and 6 – Forcible rape, in violation of section 261, subdivision (a)(2);

Count 4 – Forcible penetration, in violation of section 289, subdivision (a);

Count 5 – Forcible oral copulation, in violation of section 288a, subdivision (c)(2)(A);

Count 7 – Burglary, in violation of section 459;

Count 10 – Sodomy by use of force, section 286, subdivision (c)(2)(A);

Count 12 – Assault with a firearm, in violation of section 245, subdivision (a)(2); and

Count 13 – False imprisonment by violence, menace, fraud, and deceit, in violation of sections 236 and 237, subdivision (a).

(1 C.T. 53-64.)

It was alleged as to counts 1, 3 through 6, and 10 that appellant personally and intentionally used a firearm within the meaning of sections 12022.53, subdivision (b) and 12022.5, subdivision (a), and personally inflicted great bodily injury within the meaning of section 12022.8. It was additionally alleged Mr. Williams committed counts 3 through 6 and 10 during the commission of kidnapping and burglary, with the use of a weapon, personal infliction of great bodily injury, and being convicted of a specified offense against more than one victim, within the meaning of section 667.61, subdivisions (a) through (e). (1 C.T. 53-63.)

A jury convicted Mr. Williams on counts 1 through 9 and 11 through 13 with true findings on all allegations except the multiple victim allegations attached to counts 3 through 6. He was found not guilty on count 10, sodomy by force, but guilty of the lesser included offenses of battery and assault, in violation of sections 240 and 242. (3 C.T. 582-588, 590-615.)

On May 29, 2018, Mr. Williams was sentenced to consecutive terms of 25 years to life for counts 3, 4, 5, and 6. The court imposed an additional 10 years on each count pursuant to section 12022.53, subdivision (b), and 5 years pursuant to section 12022.8, a total of 15 years on each of counts 3 through 6. The court imposed the upper term of 6 years for count 1, and remaining terms were imposed at one-third the midterm: 1 year, 4 months for count 7, 1 year for count 12, and 8 months each for counts 2, 8, 9, 11 and 13. 10 years was imposed for count 1 pursuant to section 12022.53, and terms of 1 year, 4 months for

each of counts 2, 7, and 11 pursuant to section 12022.5. A misdemeanor term of 6 months on count 10 was ordered consecutive to the prison terms. Appellant's aggregate term of imprisonment is 100 years to life, plus 86 years, 2 months. (3 C.T. 518-523, 617-623.)

In D074098, Mr. Williams raised several issues, including that his rights to equal protection under the state and federal constitutions would be violated by his exclusion from youthful offender parole consideration pursuant to section 3051, subdivision (h). The Court of Appeal affirmed the judgment on April 6, 2020, and this court granted the Petition for Review on July 22, 2020.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

A. Evidence Related to the Incident at Jane Doe 1's Apartment the Night of August 13, 2016 (Counts 1-9)

On the evening of August 13, 2016, at approximately 6:00 p.m., a friend picked up Jane Doe 1 from her apartment at The Venetian complex on Nobel Drive in San Diego. (5 R.T. 785-786.) They met more friends at Mission Bay and had a barbeque until around 10:00 p.m. (5 R.T. 786-788.) The friends dropped Doe 1 at the gated entrance to her apartment complex, and she entered through the pedestrian gate. (5 R.T. 788-790.) As she walked through the garage building's bottom level, a man she did not know approached and asked if she needed help carrying her things. (5 R.T. 791, 797-799; 12 R.T. 2311.) Doe 1 walked quickly

to her apartment on the second floor, but the man followed her, saying he was looking for a friend's apartment. (5 R.T. 800, 804, 806.) As Doe started to unlock her apartment, the man knocked her down, held a handgun to her head and demanded money. (5 R.T. 806-807, 809-810.) Doe 1 gave him a necklace, her wallet, and her phone. (5 R.T. 808, 810-811, 816.) He then forced her inside the apartment, choked her, and asked for more money or valuables. (5 R.T. 818-820, 822-824.)

The assailant punched Doe in the face, causing her to fall and fracture her face. (5 R.T. 826-827.) He pulled her shorts off and dragged her to the bedroom, where he raped and orally copulated her. (5 R.T. 828, 830-831-835, 839-840.) After he was finished, he took Doe into the bathroom, where she gave him a jewelry box and a pair of earrings. (5 R.T. 840.) The man then had Doe get into the bathtub and he washed her face with a washcloth, and then left her in the tub with the curtain closed. (5 R.T. 841-844.) After waiting 20 or 30 minutes, Doe 1 left the bathroom, got dressed, and went to the neighbors' apartment for help. (5 R.T. 845-846; 882; 8 R.T. 1412-1414.) One of the neighbors drove Doe to the nearby hospital, where she was treated for multiple injuries. (5 R.T. 848-851, 883.)

Doe 1 viewed a photo lineup on August 23 but was unable to identify the perpetrator. (6 R.T. 1025-1030.) She did positively identify appellant at the preliminary hearing. (12 R.T. 2311.) Several DNA samples were collected from the comforter in Jane Doe 1's bedroom, and one of the samples from the comforter showed a strong likelihood that appellant was the contributor.

(10 R.T. 1961-1963.) Testing of a neck swab from Doe's SART exam could not exclude appellant, providing "limited statistical support" for the inclusion of appellant as a contributor. (10 R.T. 1965.) Data from appellant's cell phone indicated that he was in the area of Doe 1's apartment at around 8:32 p.m. (9 R.T. 1713-1714, 1720.)

B. Evidence of Assault, Threats, and False Imprisonment of Jane Doe 2 on August 14, 2016 (counts 10-13)

The day after the attack on Doe 1, officers responded to a call of a disturbance at a Motel 6 on Alvarado Canyon Road at approximately 11:49 p.m.. (6 R.T. 1066-1068, 1134-1135.) Witnesses reported a female screaming in room 226, and officers arrived at the room to find a window broken. (6 R.T. 1068-1069, 1079, 1135.) The room was empty when officers entered, but there was blood on the walls, bed, and floor. (6 R.T. 1070.) A guest staying at the motel reported hearing the screaming, and when he and another guest went to the room on the second floor, they saw a man and woman through the window, both naked, struggling on the bed. (6 R.T. 1079-1082.) The witnesses saw the man strike the woman, Jane Doe 2, who had blood pouring down her head. (6 R.T. 1084-1086.) Jane Doe 2 started pounding on the window with closed fists until it broke, and the witness outside helped her climb out the window. (6 R.T. 1086-1087.) Before police arrived, Jane Doe 2 got into a car that drove up to the motel and left the area. (6 R.T. 1087-1088, 1096-1098, 1101-1102.)

A CHP officer in the area encountered appellant running on the sidewalk, wearing only a pair of shorts, and blood on his upper body. He had a handgun in his pocket. (6 R.T. 1124-1125, 1129-1130.) Appellant was taken into custody. (6 R.T. 1137-1138.) Doe 2 went to the hospital two days later and spoke to the police at that time. (7 R.T. 1254, 1256, 1365.) A few days later, Doe 2 was interviewed again at the police department, and she selected appellant's picture from a photographic lineup. (7 R.T. 1447-1448, 1452-1453.)

At trial Doe 2 testified that she was "prostituting" at the Motel 6 on August 14, 2016. (7 R.T. 1215.) Appellant called Doe 2's phone and made an appointment, and agreed to pay \$200. (7 R.T. 1221, 1224; 12 R.T. 2312.) Appellant came into the room, set money down by the TV and went into the restroom. (7 R.T. 1225-1226.) When he came out of the restroom, he seemed different. (7 R.T. 1226.) She said they fought, and he started to choke her, and asked her if she wanted to die. (7 R.T. 1226-1228.) She screamed as loud as she could for help and tried to fight appellant off. (7 R.T. 1235.) Doe 2 tried to run out the door, but he grabbed her, pulled her back, and struck her in the head. (7 R.T. 1230, 1239, 1241, 1255-1256.) She finally pulled away and got to the window, where she saw people outside. (7 R.T. 1245.) She broke the window with her hands and climbed out. (7 R.T. 1245-1247.)

ARGUMENT

THE EXCLUSION IN PENAL CODE SECTION 3051 OF OTHERWISE ELIGIBLE YOUTHFUL OFFENDERS SENTENCED PURSUANT TO SECTION 667.61 FROM RECEIVING A YOUTH OFFENDER PAROLE HEARING VIOLATES THE EQUAL PROTECTION CLAUSE OF THE FOURTEENTH AMENDMENT BECAUSE THERE IS NO COMPELLING INTEREST OR RATIONAL BASIS FOR THE EXCLUSION

A. Background

1. Recent Developments in Eighth Amendment Jurisprudence Pertaining to Youthful Offenders

Over a period of several years in a series of rulings, the United States Supreme Court limited imposition of the most extreme sentences for juveniles aged 18 and under. In *Roper v. Simmons* (2005) 543 U.S. 551 [125 S.Ct. 1183, 161 L.Ed.2d 1], the court held that the Eighth Amendment forbids the imposition of the death penalty on juvenile offenders who committed a capital offense when they were under 18 years old. The Supreme Court recognized juveniles as “categorically less culpable” than older criminals because of their lack of maturity and underdeveloped sense of responsibility, vulnerability to negative influences and outside pressures, and unformed character development. (*Id.* at pp. 569-570.)

In *Graham v. Florida* (2010) 560 U.S. 48 [130 S.Ct. 2011, 176 L.Ed.2d 825], the court went further, striking down juvenile sentences of life without the possibility of parole for nonhomicide

offenses. The problem with an LWOP sentence, the Supreme Court explained, is that “[t]he penalty forswears altogether the rehabilitative ideal. By denying the defendant the right to reenter the community, the State makes an irrevocable judgment about that person’s value and place in society. This judgment is not appropriate in light of a juvenile nonhomicide offender’s capacity for change and limited moral culpability.” (*Graham, supra*, 560 U.S., p. 74.)

Next, in *Miller v. Alabama* (2012) 567 U.S. 460 [132 S.Ct. 2455, 183 L.Ed.12d 407] the Supreme Court held that mandatory sentences of life without the possibility of parole for juvenile offenders convicted of murder also violated the Eighth Amendment. *Miller* recognized that in the years since *Roper*, additional neurological studies confirmed, “adolescent brains are not yet fully mature in regions and systems related to higher-order executive functions such as impulse control, planning ahead, and risk avoidance” (*Miller, supra*, 567 U.S., p. 472, fn. 5), and that “adolescence” for this purpose extends into young adulthood, corroborating the Supreme Court’s reasoning that young offenders cannot be held to the same level of moral and legal culpability as the average adult for whom penal statutes have generally been written.

The Supreme Court’s consistent resort to behavioral and biological studies about juveniles compels application of its principle’s regarding punishment beyond the age of 18. The juvenile brain does not magically transform into an adult brain when the clock strikes midnight on the defendant’s 18th

birthday, something the court expressly noted in *Roper*. (*Roper*, *supra*, 543 U.S., p. 574.) While *Roper* relied on convention to draw the line at 18, research since then has established a sound basis for extending its principles, applied in both *Graham* and *Miller*, to young offenders up to the age of 25.

2. *People v. Caballero* (2012) 55 Cal.4th 262 and section 3051

In response to *Roper*, *Graham*, and *Miller*, this court took up the question of whether a term of 110 years to life imposed on a juvenile for a nonhomicide offense violates the Eight Amendment because it is the functional equivalent of life without the possibility of parole. (*People v. Caballero*, *supra*, 55 Cal.4th at 269 [a parole eligibility date that falls outside the juvenile offender’s natural life expectancy constitutes cruel and unusual punishment in violation of the Eighth Amendment].)

This court urged California lawmakers to “enact legislation establishing a parole eligibility mechanism that provides a defendant serving a de facto life sentence without possibility of parole for nonhomicide crimes that he or she committed as a juvenile with the opportunity to obtain release on a showing of rehabilitation and maturity.” (*Caballero*, *supra*, 55 Cal.4th at p. 269, fn. 5.) Section 3051 was the Legislature’s response, providing for a “youth offender parole hearing” that permits a defendant to present mitigating evidence of the impact of youth on his or her criminal history at an appropriate point in youth’s term of incarceration. (Legis. Counsel’s Digest, Sen. Bill 260 (2013-2014 Reg. Session), Summ. Dig., p. 2.)

The legislation first provided potential parole for youthful offenders under the age of 18. (Stats 2013 ch 312 § 4 (SB 260), effective January 1, 2014.) In 2016 section 3051 was amended to include those under 23 years of age, and in 2018 the Legislature raised the age for parole consideration to individuals age 25 or younger. (Stats 2015 ch 471 § 1 (SB 261), effective January 1, 2016; Stats 2017 ch 675 § 1 (AB 1308), effective January 1, 2018.)

Currently, a young offender's lengthy indeterminate sentence would, in most cases, make the offender eligible for parole under the following provision:

A person who was convicted of a controlling offense that was committed when the person was 25 years of age or younger and for which the sentence is a life term of 25 years to life shall be eligible for release on parole at a youth offender parole hearing by the board during his or her 25th year of incarceration, unless previously released pursuant to other statutory provisions.

(§ 3051, subd. (b)(3).)

Subdivision (h) of section 3051, however, excludes youthful offenders sentenced under three specific circumstances:

(h) This section shall not apply to cases in which sentencing occurs pursuant to Section 1170.12, subdivisions (b) to (i), inclusive, of Section 667, or Section 667.61, or to cases in which an individual is sentenced to life in prison without the possibility of parole for a controlling offense that was committed after the person had attained 18 years of age. . . .

(§ 3051, subd. (h).)

3. The legislative adjustment from age 18 to 25 for parole consideration as a youthful offender is supported by multiple studies

The legislative increase in age from 18 to 25 for youth offender parole eligibility was supported by recent neurological studies which confirmed: “adolescent brains are not yet fully mature in regions and systems related to higher-order executive functions such as impulse control, planning ahead, and risk avoidance” (*Miller, supra*, 567 U.S., p. 472, fn. 5), and that “adolescence” for this purpose extends into young adulthood, corroborating courts’ reasoning that young offenders cannot be held to the same level of moral and legal culpability as the average adult for whom penal statutes have generally been written. In other words, the juvenile brain does not magically transform into an adult brain when the clock strikes midnight on the defendant’s 18th birthday, something the high court expressly noted in *Roper*. (*Roper, supra*, 543 U.S., p. 574.)

“Neurobehavioral, morphological, neurochemical, and pharmacological evidence suggests that the brain remains under construction during adolescence.” (Arain, et al., *Maturation of the Adolescent Brain*, *Nueropsychiatric Dis. and Treat.*, Apr. 3, 2013, v. 9, 449-461 [<https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3621648/#>].) The term “adolescence” describes a term of years that differs depending on the system under examination. While hormonally, it may be complete in one’s late teens, neurologically, it continues into the 24th year. (*Ibid.*)

“MRI studies have discovered that developmental processes tend to occur in the brain in a back-to-front pattern.”

(Arain, *supra*.) The limbic system matures first, with the prefrontal cortex developing later. (Casey, et al., *The Adolescent Brain*, Anno. N.Y. Acad. Sci., Mar. 2008, 111-126

[<https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC2475802/>].) “The limbic system is a group of structures located deep within the cerebrum. . . . These brain regions are involved in the expression of emotions and motivation, which are related to survival. The emotions include fear, anger, and the fight or flight response. The limbic system is also involved in feelings of pleasure that reward behaviors related to species survival, such as eating and sex.”

(Arain, *supra*.) “Because adolescents rely heavily on the emotional regions of their brains, it can be challenging to make what adults consider logical and appropriate decisions.” (*Ibid.*)

“The prefrontal cortex offers an individual the capacity to exercise good judgment when presented with difficult life situations.” (Arain, *supra*.) It “is responsible for cognitive analysis, abstract thought, and the moderation of correct behavior in social situations.” (*Ibid.*) “Following neuronal proliferation [just prior to puberty], the brain rewires itself from the onset of puberty up until 24 years old, especially in the prefrontal cortex.” (*Ibid.*) “The prefrontal cortex is one of the last areas of the brain to reach maturation. . . .” (*Ibid.*)

The California Legislature, in passing the amendment to include youthful offenders up to and including age 25, expressly relied on such studies:

The rationale, as expressed by the author and supporters of this bill, is that research shows that cognitive brain development continues into the early

20s or later. The parts of the brain that are still developing during this process affect judgment and decision-making, and are highly relevant to criminal behavior and culpability. (See Johnson, et al., *Adolescent Maturity and the Brain: The Promise and Pitfalls of Neuroscience Research in Adolescent Health Policy*, Journal of Adolescent Health (Sept. 2009); National Institute of Mental Health, *The Teen Brain: Still Under Construction* (2011).) “The development and maturation of the prefrontal cortex occurs primarily during adolescence and is fully accomplished at the age of 25 years. The development of the prefrontal cortex is very important for complex behavioral performance, as this region of the brain helps accomplish executive brain functions.” (<https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3621648/> [as of April 20, 2017].)

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