No. S262229

In the Supreme Court of the State of California

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

v.

JEREMIAH IRA WILLIAMS,

Defendant and Appellant.

Fourth Appellate District, Division One, Case No. D074098

San Diego County Superior Court, Case No. SCD268493

The Honorable Kenneth So, Judge

ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROB BONTA (SBN 202668)

Attorney General of California

MICHAEL J. MONGAN (SBN 250374)

Solicitor General

LANCE E. WINTERS (SBN 162357)

Chief Assistant Attorney General

JULIE L. GARLAND (SBN 179657)

Senior Assistant Attorney General

*JOSHUA PATASHNIK (SBN 295120)

Deputy Solicitor General

STEVE OETTING (SBN 142868)

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

ARGUMENT

I. THE LEGISLATURE’S EXCLUSION OF ONE-STRIKE OFFENDERS FROM THE YOUTH OFFENDER PAROLE SCHEME DOES NOT VIOLATE EQUAL PROTECTION

The only question before this Court is whether the Legislature violated the Equal Protection Clause by excluding one-strike offenders like Williams from youth offender parole consideration while not categorically excluding all young adults

convicted of first-degree murder. Because Williams’s claim does not involve a suspect classification or implicate a fundamental right, that question is subject to rational basis review. Under that standard, the Legislature has broad discretion to define crimes and specify punishment; equal protection is satisfied so long as there is any plausible justification for the Legislature’s classification. The State acknowledges that there is an ongoing and important policy debate over the proper treatment of sex offenders in our criminal justice system—including whether they pose a greater recidivism risk than other categories of offenders. However that debate is ultimately resolved, the answer to the legal question before this Court is straightforward: The Legislature has long expressed special concern about high rates of recidivism among sex offenders relative to other categories of offenders. And it could rationally rely on that concern, along with the particularly serious nature of one-strike sex offenses, as a basis for excluding one-strike offenders from consideration under the youth offender parole regime without categorically excluding all first-degree murderers.

A. Rational basis review applies to Williams’s equal protection claim

The constitutional guarantee “of equal protection ensures that the government does not treat a group of people unequally without some justification.” (*People v. Chatman* (2018) 4 Cal.5th 277, 288.)⁷ “The extent of justification required to survive equal

⁷ This Court’s “precedent has not distinguished the state and federal guarantees of equal protection for claims arising from
(continued...)

protection scrutiny in a specific context depends on the nature or effect of the classification at issue.” (*Ibid.*) Where the government draws a distinction that is “based on a suspect classification such as race” or gender, or that “affect[s] a fundamental right,” varying degrees of heightened scrutiny apply. (*Ibid.*; see also, e.g., *People v. Wilkinson* (2004) 33 Cal.4th 821, 836.) But “where the law challenged neither draws a suspect classification nor burdens fundamental rights,” courts ask only whether there is a “*rational* relationship between [the] disparity in treatment and some legitimate government purpose.” (*Chatman, supra*, 4 Cal.5th at pp. 288-289.)

Williams’s equal protection claim is based on an alleged disparity in treatment between “young adults convicted and sentenced for serious sex crimes under the One Strike law” and “young adults convicted of first degree murder.” (Order Granting Review (July 22, 2020).)⁸ That disparity does not turn on any

(...continued)

allegedly unequal consequences associated with different types of criminal offenses.” (*Chatman, supra*, 4 Cal.5th at p. 287.) Williams does not assert that there is any difference between the state and federal guarantees for purposes of this case; as framed by the Court, the issue presented here focuses exclusively on the federal Equal Protection Clause.

⁸ The court of appeal below “assume[d]” without deciding that Williams made a “show[ing] that the state has adopted a classification that affects two or more similarly situated groups in an unequal manner.” (Opn. pp. 47, 48.) Because the court below did not reach that issue, this brief does not address it and this Court need not resolve it here. (See *post*, pp. 35-37.)

suspect classification, nor does it implicate a fundamental right. Rather, the gravamen of the claim is that the Legislature has allowed a “lesser” offense to be “punished more severely” than a “greater” offense. (*Wilkinson, supra*, 33 Cal.4th at p. 838.) Rational basis review governs such a claim because “[a] defendant . . . ‘does not have a fundamental interest in a specific term of imprisonment or in the designation a particular crime receives.’” (*Ibid.*) Indeed, “[a]pplication of the strict scrutiny standard in this context would be incompatible with the broad discretion the Legislature traditionally has been understood to exercise in defining crimes and specifying punishment.” (*Ibid.*) It would represent “a highly intrusive judicial reexamination of legislative classifications” that would “intrude too heavily on the police power and the Legislature’s prerogative to set criminal justice policy.” (*Id.* at pp. 837, 838, internal quotation marks, alterations, and citation omitted.)⁹

A defining feature of rational basis review is its “deferential nature.” (*People v. Turnage* (2012) 55 Cal.4th 62, 77.) Equal protection is satisfied if “there is any reasonably conceivable state of facts that could provide a rational basis for the classification.” (*Kasler v. Lockyer* (2000) 23 Cal.4th 472, 482, italics omitted.) “A

⁹ Williams suggests in passing that strict scrutiny should apply here because the challenged statutory scheme “determines the length of incarceration,” which “infringes on ‘a fundamental interest.’” (OBM 26.) But this Court has expressly rejected that theory. (*Wilkinson, supra*, 33 Cal.4th at pp. 837-838.) In other parts of his brief, Williams appears to acknowledge that the “[r]ational [b]asis” test applies. (OBM 33; *see id.* at pp. 33-40.)

classification is not arbitrary or irrational simply because there is an imperfect fit between means and ends, or because it may be to some extent both underinclusive and overinclusive.” (*Johnson v. Department of Justice* (2015) 60 Cal.4th 871, 887, internal quotation marks and citations omitted.) “Nor does the logic behind a potential justification need to be persuasive or sensible—rather than simply rational.” (*Chatman, supra*, 4 Cal.5th at p. 289.)

Rational basis review does not demand an extensive showing in defense of the Legislature’s chosen policy. The Legislature’s “underlying rationale” need not “be empirically substantiated,” and it does not matter “whether lawmakers ever actually articulated the purpose they sought to achieve.” (*Johnson, supra*, 60 Cal.4th at p. 881.) Rather, “a court may engage in ‘rational speculation’ as to the justifications for the legislative choice”—regardless of whether “such speculation has ‘a foundation in the record’”—and a challenger must “‘negative every conceivable basis’ that might support the disputed statutory disparity.” (*Ibid.*, citations omitted.) “If a plausible basis exists for the disparity, courts may not second-guess its ‘wisdom, fairness, or logic.’” (*Ibid.*; see also *Turnage, supra*, 55 Cal.4th at p. 77 [“When conducting rational basis review, we must accept any gross generalizations and rough accommodations that the Legislature seems to have made.”].)

B. The Legislature had a rational basis for excluding one-strike offenders

Over the years, the Legislature has enacted a variety of policies stemming from its concern that sex offenders present a

greater risk of recidivism than offenders convicted of other types of serious felonies. There is an active debate over whether and to what extent the data support such concerns and, more generally, over how our criminal justice system should treat sex offenders. (See *post*, pp. 29-33.) As that debate continues, the Legislature will surely consider whether to change current laws, including the one at issue in this case. But however that policy process plays out, the answer to the constitutional question here is clear. In the context of an equal protection claim governed by rational basis review, the Legislature could constitutionally rely on its concern about heightened recidivism risk among sex offenders—combined with the very serious nature of one-strike offenses—to exclude one-strike offenders from youth offender parole consideration without categorically excluding all first-degree murderers.

When the Legislature enacted the One Strike law, it made clear that it was motivated in substantial part by concerns about recidivism among serious sex offenders. The “general statement of purpose in the legislative history” explains that “long prison sentences” are warranted for one-strike offenders because they “cannot be cured of [their] aberrant impulses, and must be separated from society to prevent reoffense.” (*People v. Wutzke* (2002) 28 Cal.4th 923, 929-930.) The statute generally provides for lengthy sentences for offenders whose crimes “involve the use of force or fear” in connection with a sex offense. (*Id.* at p. 930; see § 667.61, subd. (c).) It applies to repeat sex offenders and those who commit sex offenses under circumstances that “reflect

the use of violent or predatory means that increase the victim’s ‘vulnerability.’” (*Wutzke, supra*, 28 Cal.4th at p. 930; see § 667.61, subds. (d), (e); see also, e.g., *People v. Palmore* (2000) 79 Cal.App.4th 1290, 1296.) In other words, to protect public safety, the One Strike law authorizes lengthy prison sentences for *both* “recidivist sexual offenders *and* first time offenders who commit certain sexual crimes under aggravated circumstances.” (*People v. Hammer* (2003) 30 Cal.4th 756, 768.)

In other contexts, the Legislature has also enacted laws addressing its concern that sex offenders generally present a heightened risk of recidivism relative to other categories of offenders. For example, it has provided that sexually violent predators may be civilly committed even after serving a sentence. (Welf. & Inst. Code, § 6600 et seq.) It has required certain sex offenders to register for life after they are released from custody. (Pen. Code, § 290 et seq.) And it has directed that evidence of prior sex offenses is admissible at some criminal trials to show propensity. (Evid. Code, § 1108). The One Strike law’s goal of reducing recidivism by providing for long prison sentences for aggravated sex offenders aligns with this general approach.¹⁰

The court below correctly inferred that similar concerns about recidivism and the grave threat presented by aggravated

¹⁰ The court of appeal below considered the same examples in applying rational basis review to the youth offender parole scheme, as have other courts. (See *Opn.*, pp. 51-52; see also *Moseley, supra*, 59 Cal.App.5th at p. 1170; *Bell, supra*, 3 Cal.App.5th at pp. 878-880.)

sex offenses led the Legislature to exclude one-strike offenders from the youth offender parole scheme. (See Opn., pp. 53-54.) Apart from one-strike offenders, section 3051 excludes other categories of offenders who are especially prone to recidivism or who have committed particularly serious crimes. The Legislature excluded offenders sentenced under the Three Strikes law (§ 3051, subd. (h), citing §§ 1170.12; 667, subds. (b)-(i)), underscoring its concerns about recidivism. It also excluded young adult offenders “sentenced to life in prison without the possibility of parole for a controlling offense that was committed after the person had attained 18 years of age” (*ibid.*), reflecting its desire to prevent individuals convicted of the most serious felonies from obtaining parole.¹¹ Those other exclusions are consistent with the Legislature’s decision to exclude one-strike offenders based on its concerns that they generally present a heightened recidivism risk and have committed especially serious crimes.

The Legislature’s actions in this area were presumably informed by the widespread “public perception” that “recidivism is a more serious problem among sex offenders than other criminals.” (Bedarf, Comment, *Examining Sex Offender Community Notification Laws* (1995) 83 Cal. L. Rev. 885, 893.) “Beginning in the late 1970s,” criminologists and other social

¹¹ The Eighth Amendment limits the imposition of life without parole and functionally equivalent prison sentences for juvenile offenders, and prohibits such sentences for non-homicide crimes (including one-strike offenses) committed by juveniles. (See *Contreras, supra*, 4 Cal.5th at pp. 359-360; *post*, pp. 38-41.)

scientists increasingly became concerned that “serious sex offenders . . . have significant rates of recidivism” relative to other categories of offenders. (*Id.* at p. 894; see also *id.*, fns. 49-53, citing Groth et al., *Undetected Recidivism Among Rapists and Child Molesters* (1982) 28 *Crime and Delinq.* 450, 451-457, and Soothill & Gibbens, *Recidivism of Sexual Offenders: A Re-Appraisal* (1978) 18 *Brit. J. Criminology* 267, 267-268.)

Studies in the 1980s were widely understood to substantiate those concerns. (Bedarf, *supra*, 83 *Cal. L. Rev.* at pp. 895-896, and fns. 58-64.)¹² For instance, a 1988 study by the California Department of Justice concluded that “[s]ex offenders as a group are highly recidivistic, particularly among those who commit rape.”¹³ It found that “nearly half (49.4 percent)” of sex offenders “were rearrested for some type of offense and almost twenty percent (19.7) for a subsequent sex offense,” and that “[s]ex offenders whose first arrest was for rape by force or threat had the highest recidivism rate.”¹⁴ While the study did not find that sex offenders were more likely than other categories of offenders to be re-arrested generally, it did find that sex offenders were more than five times as likely as other offenders to be arrested

¹² Citing Lewis, Report to the California State Legislature, *Effectiveness of Statutory Requirements for the Registration of Sex Offenders* 1, 7 (1988), and Beck & Shipley, U.S. Dep’t of Justice, *Recidivism of Prisoners Released in 1983* 1, 6 (1989), available at <https://www.bjs.gov/content/pub/pdf/rpr83.pdf>.

¹³ Lewis, *supra* note 12, at p. 2.

¹⁴ *Id.* at p. 1.

for a sex offense following release from prison.¹⁵ Similarly, a 1989 study by the United States Department of Justice found that “[r]eleased rapists were 10.5 times more likely than nonrapists to have a subsequent arrest for rape” and that released prisoners who had been convicted of rape or sexual assault were among the categories of offenders with the highest “likelihood of rearrest for a similar crime.”¹⁶

No doubt, this is a subject on which there is active scholarly debate, in part because “recidivism rates for sex offenders are unusually hard to establish, owing to gross underreporting of sex crimes.” (Furby et al., *Sex Offender Recidivism: A Review* (1989) 105 *Psych. Bulletin* 3, 3; see also Soothill, *Sex Offender Recidivism* (2010) 39 *Crime & Justice* 145, 156-167 [discussing methodological challenges of measuring sex offender recidivism rates].) The academic literature reflects uncertainty and disagreement regarding the risk of recidivism among sex offenders. As Justice Bendix of the Second District Court of Appeal observed after surveying the academic literature, “[s]ocial science has produced statistics about recidivism by sex offenders that arguably would support both sides in this debate.” (*In re Woods* (2021) 62 *Cal.App.5th* 740, 276 *Cal.Rptr.3d* 895, 910 [dis. opn. of Bendix, J.]) And some commentators, particularly in

¹⁵ *Id.* at p. 8 [showing that 19.7 percent of sex offenders were re-arrested for a subsequent sex offense, while between 1.6 percent and 3.7 percent of other categories of offenders were re-arrested for a sex offense].

¹⁶ Beck & Shipley, *supra* note 12, at p. 6 & tbl. 10.

recent years, have argued that “the commonly held belief that sex offenders have a high rate of reoffending is not supported by the evidence.” (Lave, *Arizona’s Sex Offender Laws: Recommendations for Reform* (2020) 52 Ariz. St. L.J. 925, 926.)¹⁷

That debate will continue in the years to come, and the Legislature will have the benefit of further research when making policy choices in this area. As to the constitutional question before this Court, however, the Legislature’s demonstrated concern that sex offenders pose a disproportionate risk of recidivism provides a rational basis for its decision to exclude one-strike offenders from the youth offender parole scheme. (See Opn., pp. 52-54; *People v. Moseley* (2021) 59 Cal.App.5th 1160, 1169-1170.) Indeed, the U.S. Supreme Court has recognized that States “could conclude that a conviction for a sex offense provides evidence of substantial risk of recidivism,” in light of “grave concerns over the high rate of recidivism among convicted sex offenders and their dangerousness as a class.” (*Smith v. Doe* (2003) 538 U.S. 84, 103; see also *McKune v. Lile* (2002) 536 U.S. 24, 33-34 [plurality opn.] [“When convicted sex offenders reenter society, they are much more likely than any other type of offender to be rearrested for a new rape or sexual assault.”].)¹⁸

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